
United Nations FOURTH COMMITTEE, 1376th 
MEETING GENERAL 

ASSEMBLY 
SIWENTEENTH SESSION 

Official Records • Thursday, 8 November 1962, 
at 10.55 a.m. 

CONTENTS 

Agenda item 57: 
Question of South West Africa (continued): 
(~) Report of the United Nations Special Com

mittee for South West Africa; 
(!J) Special educational and training pro

grammes for South West Africa: report of 
the Secretary-General •...•.•••..•• 

General debate (continued) . .......... . 
Tribute to the memory of Mrs. Eleanor Roose-

velt ......•••...•...•........... 

Page 

299 
299 

306 

Chairman: Mr. Guillermo FLORES AVENDANO 
<G uate mal a). 

AGENDA ITEM 57 

Question of South West Africa (A/5238, chap. IX; A/C.4/ 
572) (continued): 

(!!)Report of the United Nations Special Committee for 
South West Africa (A/5212 and Add.l-3); 

(~) Special educational and training programmes for South 
West Africa: report of the Secretary-Genera I (A/5234 and 
Add.l) 

1. Mr. IBE (Nigeria) requested that a summary of the 
paper by Professor Alvin W. Wolfe which had been 
read out by the Reverend Michael Scott at the 1372nd 
meeting of the Committee should be included in the 
final text of the summary record. 

It was so decided. 

GENERAL DEBATE (continued) 

2. Mr. HUIDOBRO (Chile) congratulated the members 
of the Special Committee for South West Africa on the 
work they had done and the efforts they had made to 
carry out their duties. His delegation had drawn a 
number of conclusions from its reading of the report 
(A/5212 and Add.1-3). Firstly, the South African 
Government persisted in refusing to recognize the 
competence of the United Nations to intervene in 
matters relating to the administration of South West 
Africa. Secondly, as a consequence of that fact the 
Special Committee had encountered serious obstacles 
in its attempts to carry out its tasks. Thirdly, the 
people of South West Africa were denied the most ele
mentary human rights, such as the right to self
determination, to democratic representation and to 
equality before the law. Fourthly, the vast majority of 
the population resisted and rejected the policy of 
apartheid which was being imposed on the Territory 
by the Mandatory Power. Fifthly, the great majority 
of the population demanded that the United Nations 
should take over the Territory andprepareitfor self
government and independence. Sixthly, there was no 
means of ensuring that the South African Government 

NEW YORK 

would agree to the implementation of General Assembly 
resolution 1702 (XVI) without the use of enforcement 
measures. 

3. In the eyes of the delegation of Chile the refusal of 
the South African Government to admit the competence 
of the United Nations in matters relating to the Man
date and to comply with the resolutions calling for an 
end to the policy of apartheid within South Africa 
itself constituted a rebellious attitude which might 
have serious consequences not only for the oppressed 
people of that part of the world but for the Republic of 
South Africa, for the relations between African States, 
for the whole African continent and for the peaceful 
coexistence of all nations. 

4. It was significant that two of the Main Committees 
of the General Assembly were obliged to devote a great 
part of their time year after year to discussing the 
rebellious attitude of the South African Government. 
He stressed the fact that the South African Govern
ment, by means of its racist legislation, had introduced 
into the African continent a disturbing element which 
threatened the majority of the population ofthatconti
nent and which was not confined to the country where it 
had originated but was being extended to other areas 
and thus constituted a serious threat to peace. Dis
criminatory legislation inevitably led to genocide, to 
the existence of a police State and to terrorism. It 
disturbed and threatened peace because it disturbed and 
threatened the stability, the security and the human 
rights of a large part of the population of Africa, and 
because it was an open attack on the most sacred 
human rights. That continual violation ofhumanrights 
had become an international matter because human 
rights were a matter of international concern; the 
United Nations was competent to study the consequen
ces of the application of such legislation in any part of 
the world. 

299 

5. In his delegation's opinion there could be no doubt 
that the United Nations was also competent to concern 
itself with the administration of the Territory of 
South West Africa in virtue of the Mandate conferred 
by the League of Nations. The International Court of 
Justice, in its advisory opinion of 11 July 1950,!.1 had 
expressed the view that the South African Government 
continued to have the international obligations stated in 
Article 22 of the Covenant of the League of Nations. 
The only purpose of any other interpretation must be 
to prevent the people of the Territory from exercising 
their right to self-determination. The argument that 
the Mandate had expired and that the Territory was 
being administered in the spirit of the Mandate was 
without legal force and was completely unconvincing. If 
the South African Government considered that the 
Mandate had expired, its only course would be to 
surrender its administrative responsibility. If, on the 

!./ International status of South-West Africa, Advisory Opinion: I.C.j. 
Reports 1950, p. 128. 

A/C.4/SR.1376 



300 General Assembly - Seventeenth Session - Fourth Committee 

other hand, as was claimed, the link between the inter
national body and· South Africa had ceased to exist, the 
United Nations had a better claim than SouthAfrica to 
take over the administration of the Territory. 

6. The people and the Government of Chile were con
cerned by the fact that in South West Africa fundamental 
principles were being systematically trampled under
foot. Chile had co-operated and would continue to co
operate in ensuring that the people of other countries 
who aspired to independence and self-determination 
should obtain full satisfaction of their just demands. 
Chile was also concerned with the special educational 
and training programmes for South West Africa. In 
that connexion he referred to the obstacles the South 
African Government was placing in the way of the 
technical assistance programmes offered by the inter
national agencies and by other countries, its obvious 
motive being to prevent the entry into the Territory of 
foreigners who would learn the truth about the situa
tion there. 

7. In connexion with the question of educational and 
training programmes, he announced that the Govern
ment of Chile had just completed a programme of 
intellectual co -operation under which a large number of 
scholarships would be offered to inhabitants of the new 
countries of Africa and teaching and technical missions 
would be sent to those countries in order to assist the 
development of their people and to accelerate the pro
cesses of education. 

8. He would not dwell at length on the question of 
independence for South West Africa but reserved the 
right to express his delegation's views on that ques
tion when commenting on any draft resolutions which 
might be submitted. Nevertheless, he would point out to 
the South African delegation that not only the indepen
dence of a Territory was at stake but the principle of 
the interdependence of all the peoples of the world. 
Ignoring the resolutions of the United Nations, the 
South African Government was violating that principle, 
which was fundamental for the coexistence of humanity. 
The report of the Special Committee stressed the 
seriousness of the steps taken by the South African 
Government for the annexation of the Territory which 
had been entrusted to it under mandate. Such an abuse 
of confidence made the position adopted by the South 
African Government even more reprehensible. 

9. The policy of apartheid was a violation of basic 
human rights which shocked all civilized people. It 
meant that the resources of a country were developed 
through the physical efforts of one race and used for 
the benefit of another race, and that the people never 
enjoyed the fruits of their labour. South Africa had 
subjected South West Africa to the most ruthless 
policy of discrimination, a form of colonialism which 
was unworthy of the present century. The South African 
Government was doubly guilty because it was applying 
racist legislation in a Territory which it held under 
mandate from an international organization. 

10. The delegation of Chile was prepared to vote in 
favour of any action which was in accordance with the 
Charter and which could put an end to the sufferings 
of the people of South West Africa. The League of 
Nations had been responsible for handing over the 
Territory under mandate to a country which was unfit 
to administer it and was seeking to annex it. It would 
be for the United Nations to liberate the people of 
SouthWest Africa from that illegal and immoral yoke. 
Action should be taken to settle the question before it 
was too late. 

11. Mr. ATTIDEPE (Togo) emphasized his delega
tion's confidence in the Chairman and Vice-Chairman 
of the Spec.ial Committee for South West Africa. His 
delegation considered that they had carried out their 
tasks admirably and that the information which they 
had collected confirmed those facts which were already 
known concerning the situation in SouthWest Africa. 
The arguments concerning the so-called joint com
muniqu(l could not drown the voices of the thousands of 
Africans in the Territory who were calling for libera
tion. As his delegation had already stated, the important 
thing was not the existence of the communiqu(l but the 
right to self-determination of the people of SouthWest 
Africa. 

12. Despite all the efforts made by the United Nations 
during the past sixteen years, the South African 
Government had refused to place South West Africa 
under trusteeship and continued to administer the 
Territory in accordance with the theory of white 
supremacy. Through that Nazi doctrine South Africa 
had created in South West Africa a situation which 
threatened peace in Africa and in the whole world. The 
South African Government, by its policy of discrimina
tion, apartheid, and economic and political oppression, 
had created conflict between the two races which 
inhabited South West Africa. Such facts as the arming 
of the Whites, their brutal treatment of the indigenous 
inhabitants, the political awakening of the people, their 
determination no longer to live as in the past and their 
desperate appeals to the United Nations, should help the 
world to understand the explosive situation which was 
developing in South West Africa. Before it was too late 
the United Nations should take the necessary steps to 
avoid a conflict. 
13. He would not go into the legal arguments the 
representative of South Africa had put forward in order 
to justify his position. Those arguments had already 
been demolished, at least in part, by the advisory 
opinion of the International Court of Justice of 11 July 
1950. The delegation of Togo considered that South 
West Africa was a Territory having an international 
status which should be administered in accordance with 
the Mandate. South Africa should carry out the" sacred 
trust of civilization" proclaimed in Article 22 of the 
Covenant of the League of Nations, ensure peace and 
freedom,. promote the material and intellectual welfare 
of the people of the Territory and encourage their 
progress towards self-government and independence. 
South Africa was answerable to the United Nations, the 
heir of the League of Nations, forthemanner in which 
it fulfilled the sacred trust bestowed upon it. It should 
co-operate with t.he United Nations in accordancewith 
the spirit of the Mandate and the Charter and should 
submit to the relevant decisions of the United Nations. 
It should accept the implications of General Assembly 
resolution 1702 (XVI); the implementation in particular 
of operative paragraph 2 of that resolution would have 
created conditions favourable for the granting of in
dependence to South West Africa. 

14. It was unfortunate that when authorizing the visit 
of the Chairman !lnd Vice-Chairman of the Special 
Committee the South African Government had not 
agreed to discuss with them practical means of imple
menting resolution 1702 (XVI). Although the granting 
of permission to visit the Territory had been a gesture 
of co-operation, the refusal by the Government of 
South Africa to implement resolution 1702 (XVI) be
trayed that Government's determination to maintain the 
status quo and had prevented the United Nations from 
carrying out its obligations towards the people of 



1376th meeting - 8 November 1962 301 

South West Africa in accordance with the Charter and 
with General Assembly resolution 1514 (XV). 

15. In the General Assembly (1128thplenarymeeting) 
and in the Fourth Committee (1369th meeting) the South 
African Minister for Foreign Affairs had denied that 
there was any threat to peace, any crime of genocide 
and any militarization in South West Africa. In support 
of his argument he had quoted the so-called joint 
communiqu€l. The Togolese delegation's assertion that 
there was a threat to peace was based not on dubious 
communiques but on precise facts which could be 
easily confirmed. There was a thre~ to peace wher
ever colonialism dominated, exploited and killed the 
people, where the people's legitimate aspirations were 
despised and ignored, where a minority group forcibly 
imposed its laws on the majority, where there was 
racial segregation, where liberty was unknown and 
where the right of peoples to self-determination was 
ignored. All those conditions existed in South West 
Africa. No one could seriously claim that peace reigned 
in a country where apartheid was the official rule of the 
Government, where men were driven into reserves 
because of the colour of their skin, where White and 
Black were separated so as to prevent them from meet
ing and understanding one another, where the racist 
police killed people without reason or deported them 
and handed them over to the authorities of Angola. 
There was a threat to peace in that country where the 
immense majority of the population were deprived of 
political and civic rights, of all freedom of opinion, 
movement and association, and of participation in the 
management of public affairs and in the enormous 
profits derived from the resources of their Territory. 

16. Peace was threatened in South West Africa 
because the South African Government, fearing to be 
overwhelmed by the nationalist movement, had a ban
do ned the usual methods of maintaining order in favour 
of armed repression of any attempt at opposition. For 
the purpose of strengthening repression it had estab
lished military bases in the Territory, in defiance of 
the spirit and letter of the Mandate. The Reverend 
Michael Scott had enumerated the sums spent by the 
South African Government cin arms and war material. 
The facts he had quoted proved that South Africa was 
preparing to wage a war of extermination against the 
indigenous inhabitants when they took action to liberate 
themselves from the yoke which was crushing them. In 
those designs South Africa was supported by certain 
great Powers which were more concerned with the 
interests of their nationals than with the right of 
peoples to self-determination. The identity of those 
great Powers was known; the petitioners had already 
denounced them. They had shown themselves in their 
true colours during the debate on Southern Rhodesia. 
They formed part of the "unholy alliance n referred to 
by the Southern Rhodesian petitioners. They were sup
porting the scheme to bring in a white population to 
replace the indigenous inhabitants. His delegation 
wished to appeal to them. Their co-operation was 
essential in finding a solution for the problem of South 
West Africa. If they had considered the right of peoples 
to self-determination to be more importar:.t than the 
dividends drawn by their nationals in South Africa they 
would have helped to bring South Africa to reason; they 
would have joined in the economic boycott against South 
Africa. The peoples of Africa would know how to judge 
the position taken by the great Powers with regard to 
economic sanctions against South Africa. The position 
taken by each delegation would reveal whether or not it 
truly wished to defend the people. 

17. The South African Minister for Foreign Affairs 
had also denied the accusations of genocide that had 
been made against his country. He had quoted figures 
from the United Nations Demographic Yearbook. There 
was no need to dwell on the weakness of the Minister's 
argument; as another representative had already 
pointed out, the figures he had quoted were those pro
vided by his own Government. The delegation of Togo 
firmly believed that genocide was being committed and 
that it had begun at the time of the German occupation. 
No one would ever be able to estimate the number of 
human lives that had been lost during the German 
repression of the Hereros. The conditions created by 
the South African Government were such as to result 
in the slow annihilation of the indigenous population. 

18. During the sixteen years of its existence the United 
Nations had been unable to persuade South Africa to 
change its position with regard to South West Africa. 
South Africa persistently refused to administer South 
West Africa in accordance with the spirit of the Man
date and the relevant provisions of the Charter and had 
thus betrayed the "sacred trust of civilization" be
stowed upon it. Such a Government was unworthy to 
continue to administer a Territory for which the United 
Nations was responsible. The delegation of Togo 
endorsed the inalienable right of the peoples of South 
West Africa to national sovereignty and to the manage
ment of their own affairs without interference from 
outside. 

19. A number of solutions had been proposed for the 
problem of South West Africa and others would doubt
less be proposed by succeeding speakers. Those solu
tions would take into consideration on the one hand the 
judicial action undertaken by certain Members of the 
United Nations against South Africa and on the other 
hand the urgent need for an early and successful solu
tion of the problem. He drew attention to the conclu
sions set forth in paragraph 43 of the report of the 
Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Special Committee 
(A/5212, part II), and endorsed by the Committee itself, 
concerning the imperative need for continued firm 
action on the question by giving the South African 
Government a short period of time within which to 
comply with the Assembly resolutions or, failing that, 
by considering the feasibility of revoking the Mandate 
and of simultaneously assuming the administration of 
the Territory to prepare its people for independence, 
if need be by imposing sanctions or employing other 
means to enforce compliance with its decisions or 
resolutions. His delegation fully associated itselfwith 
that conclusion and hoped that at the current session a 
time-.limit would be fixed after which, if the South 
African Government had not complied with the relevant 
General Assembly resolutions, and in particular with 
resolution 1702 (XVI), the United Nations would termi
nate the Mandate and take over the administration of 
the Territory with a view to preparing its people for 
independence. 

20. Mr. CUEVAS CANCINO (Mexico) said that, in view 
of the efforts and the time the United Nations had 
devoted to the problem of South West Africa, there 
was no justification for accusing the Organization of 
cowardice, as one petitioner had done. Nevertheless, 
its efforts had not been crowned with success and it 
was appropriate to consider the reasons for their 
failure. 

21. The problem was certainly one of special com
plexity. In the first place, South Africa had obtained 
its independence from the United Kingdom at a time 



302 General Assembly - Seventeenth Session - Fourth Committee 

when the only accepted standards of civilization had 
been European and it had consequently continued the 
doctrine of white supremacy. The United Nations was 
now faced with the difficult task of inducing South 
Africa to conform to the principles of the new era 
which had been ushered in by the United Nations 
Charter. 

22. There were also complicating factors regarding 
the Territory of South West Africa itself. The Terri
tory had been taken from Germany at the end of the 
First World Warbut,asaresultofthe new ideas which 
had been gaining ground regarding the obligations of 
Europe towards the peoples formerly under its domina
tion, it had not been simply annexed by one of the 
victorious Powers. In accordance with a proposal for 
which Field-Marshal Smuts was mainly responsible, 
the former German colonies had been placed under the 
administration of the victorious Powers under Man
dates of the newly formed League of Nations. The 
liquidation of the colonial system had thus begun. The 
Mandates System had been a new experiment and the 
development of that system had been highly pragmatic. 
Mandated Territories had been divided into three cate
gories; South West Africa had been placed in category 
"C", which had comprised the Territories which were 
considered to be the most backward. It was therefore 
natural that unusual concessions had been made to the 
Mandatory Power, including the provision that it could 
apply its own legislation in the Territory-although, as 
in other cases, the simple annexation of the Territory 
was ruled out. 

23. The Permanent Mandates Commission of the 
League of Nations had made great efforts to safeguard 
the interests of the indigenous inhabitants in the Man
dated Territories. In the case of South WestAfrica, it 
had on numerous occasions addressed recommenda
tions to the Mandatory Power and drawn attention to 
particular needs of the people. The United Nations had 
inherited from the League the principle that the inter
national community must help to bring about the peace
ful evolution of colonial territories towards indepen
dence. Thanks to the insistence of the smaller nations, 
the Mandates System had been reborn as the Inter
national Trusteeship System and the underlying prin
ciples had been extended, by Chapter XI of the United 
Nations Charter, to apply to all Non-Self-Governing 
Territories. 

24. In the history oftheeffortsoftheGeneral Assem
bly to solve the problem of South West Africa, three 
major periods could be distinguished. During thefirst 
period, the main concern had been to convince South 
Africa that it was under an obligation to place the 
Mandated Territory under the Trusteeship System; the 
International Court of Justice, in its advisory opinion 
of 11 July 1950, had decided that the Government of 
South Africa was not obliged to make South West Africa 
a Trust Territory but that the Mandate and the obliga
tions it involved remained valid. 

25. The second period had been characterized by the 
efforts of the United Nations to create a special 
arrangement for South West Africa by applying the 
machinery of the League within that of the United 
Nations. The Court had been asked to resolve some of 
the legal problems which had arisen, and in two further 
advisory opinions.Y it had affirmed the competence of 

J:J South- West Africa- Voting Procedure, Advisory Opinion of I une 7th, 
1955: I.C.j. Reports 1955, p. 67; and Admissibility of hearings of peti
tioners by the Committee on South West Africa, Advisory Opinion of 
june 1st, 1956: I.C.j. Reports 1956, p. 23. 

the United Nations. With the co-operation of South 
Africa, it would have been possible to establish a 
special system for. SouthWest Africa, but the response 
of the Mandatory Power had been entirely negative. 

26. In the third, and current, period, the General 
Assembly, convinced of the futility of its efforts 
towards peaceful negotiation and aware of the gravity 
of the situation in the Territory, had decided to resort 
to strong political measures. Such a development had 
been inevitable after the adoption of resolutions 1514 
(XV) and 1654 (XVI). In resolution 1702 (XVI), the 
General Assembly had established a Special Committee 
which had been instructed to take certain specific steps 
which would lead the people towards independence. 

27. During its consideration of the South African 
question, the United Nations had adopted resolutions of 
two different types: there had been resolutions of a 
political nature, beginning with resolution 65 (1), in 
which the Assembly had declared itself opposed to the 
annexation of tli.e Territory, and culminating in resolu
tion 1702 (XVI); and there had been resolutions of a 
legal type, such as resolutions 1060 (XI), 1142 (XII), 
1247 (XIII), 1361 (XIV) and 1565 (XV), all of which con
cerned legal action to ensure the fulfilment by South 
Africa of its obligations. 

28. It was true that no absolute division could be made 
between the legal and the political; where the future of 
a people was involved, a legal solution naturally had 
sidered that the Assembly was now faced with a choice 
between taking purely political action under Articles 10 
and 12 of the Charter, on the grounds that the legal 
approach had failed, and pursuing the legal approach in 
the belief that all legal means had not yet been ex
hausted. While respecting the views of those who pre
ferred political methods, his delegation remained con
vinced that the legal approach was the right one. 

29. The question of South West Africa was closely 
bound up with law in a way which was not the case with 
other colonial territories. The granting of the Mandate 
had created a precise legal situation. The problem 
inherited from the League had been a legal one: that 
of determining how far the obligations derived from 
the Mandate were still valid after the disappearance of 
the League. It was not possible to cut the Gordian knot 
of the Mandate by political action. The question of 
South West Africa was unique in that it had been the 
object of three advisory opinions of the International 
Court, not to mention the proceedings instituted by 
Liberia and Ethiopia. Impatient demands for purely 
political measures were in danger of causing the final 
objective to be lost from view and of confusing the 
legal reality. The failure of the efforts of the United 
Nations had to a large extent been the result of its dual 
and sometimes inconsistent approach to the problem. 
He was not asserting that legal methods could solve 
the problem entirely but that they could establish the 
indispensable basis for a political solution. 

30. The legal solution which he was proposing would 
require the understanding and patience of representa
tives. Petitioners and delegations had stressed the 
urgency of the problem time and time again, but his 
delegation did not think that precipitate action was 
advisable. If the United Nations had already devoted 
seventeen years to the problem it would be worth 
spending another year or two in laying the foundations 
for its final solution. 

31. A basic fact, confirmed by the International Court 
of Justice and by the General Assembly in resolution 



1376th meeting - 8 November 1962 303 

449 (V), was that the Mandate for South West Africa 
remained in force. There were therefore two alterna
tives: either to ensure the implementation oftheMan
date or to bring about its termination. Since its fifth 
session the General Assembly had pursued, without 
success, the first of those paths. With a similar inten
tion, the Governments of Ethiopia and Liberia, as 
members of the defunct League of Nations, had asked 
the International Court to consider the question. They 
had requested the Court to decide that South West 
Africa remained under the Mandate; that South Africa 
remained subject to the international obligations it had 
assumed in that respect and that the United Nations 
General Assembly was qualified to exercise the super
visory functions previously exercised by the League of 
Nations; that South Africa was obliged to transmit the 
petitions of the inhabitants of the Territory; that it had 
modified the terms of the Mandate without the consent 
of the United Nations; that it had failed to promote the 
material and moral well-being of the inhabitants; and 
that its policy of apartheid and its suppression of basic 
rights and liberties were contrary to the Mandate and 
to the Covenant of the League of Nations. They had 
further asked the Court to decide that South Africa had 
acted in a manner which was inconsistent with the 
international status of the Territory and to state that 
it was the duty of the Mandatory Power to fulfil its 
obligations under the Mandate and to abolish such 
legislative and administrative measures as were con
trary to the Mandate. The Court was still considering 
the objections of South Africa regarding jurisdiction; 
that, however, did not prevent the South African 
Government from claiming that the General Assembly 
could not take action in the case on the grounds that it 
was sub judice. 

32. The Governments of Liberia and Ethiopia de
served the Assembly's thanks for having carried out 
some of its recommendations. It was, however, useful 
to consider how the proceedings in the Court affected 
the Committee's work. In a statement he had' made at 
the 1063rd meeting of the Committee, held during the 
fifteenth session, he had expressed certain doubts 
regarding the proceedings instituted in the Court. He 
had pointed out the difficulties resulting from the fact 
that Liberia and Ethiopia were in effect acting as 
representatives of the international community, 
whereas the text of the Mandate spoke specifically of 
disputes between the Mandatory Power and other 
States. Again, Article 59 of the Statute of the Court 
provided that the Court's decision had no binding force 
except between the parties and in respect of the par
ticular case brought before it. Whatever the decision 
of the Court, it did not seem to him that the Mandate 
would be weakened or that the legal basis for the 
Pretoria Government's administration of South West 
Africa would be altered. Certainly, if South Africa 
completely ignored the Court's decision, the Security 
Council would be able, under Article 94 of the Charter, 
to take steps to give effect to the Court's judgement. 
Even then, however, the Security Council could only 
act to ensure the fulfilment of the terms of the Man
date, and thus the basis for South Africa's obstruction 
of United Nations intervention would remain. His dele
gation did not consider that course the most advisable 
one. Instead of ensuring the fulfilment of the Mandate, 
the General Assembly should now consider the possi
bility of deciding, by due legal process, that the Man
date should be revoked. 

33. His delegation had spoken of the possibility of 
revoking the Mandate at the previous session (1226th 

meeting), as also in a letter from its Permanent 
Representative addressed to the Under-Secretary for 
Trusteeship and Information from Non -Self-Governing 
Territories (A/5212, annex V). The reasoning behind 
that proposal was that in view of the South African 
Government's persistent violation of the terms and 
purposes of the Mandate, the way was open for the 
rescinding of the Mandate. Being a legal agreement, 
the Mandate must be terminated by legal channels and 
it was therefore necessary to act with extreme caution. 

34. Whereas the Mandate had been intended to safe
guard the advancement of the South African people, it 
had served merely to permit the exploitation of the 
Territory's wealth and the subjection of its population 
to the iniquities of the apartheid system. The General 
Assembly would have every reason to conclude that the 
terms of the Mandate had been violated. The South 
African Government, and perhaps other Member 
States, would disagree with that view. In international 
law, the violation of a treaty by one party opened the 
way to its denunciation by the other. The circum
stances of the present case were, however, peculiar. 
In view of the principle that no one could be judge in 
his own cause, he was not convinced that the constant 
violations by the South African Government could jus
tify, on a purely legal basis, a decision by the Assem
bly to rescind the Mandate. Such an act would be one 
of great importance. The entrusting of a helpless 
people to the care of one of its Member States had been 
a great act of faith on the part of the international 
community and on behalf of the Mandatory Power. It 
would be open to criticism for that act to be abrogated 
by a unilateral decision on the part ofthe international 
community, the more so in view of the tenuous con
nexion between the League of Nations and the United 
Nations. In his opinion the termination of the Mandate, 
however justified, would require the decision of an 
independent body. 

35. Although the United Nations could not be a party 
in a case before the International Court of Justice, it 
could seek the Court's advisory opinion on specific 
legal questions. The old distinction between questions 
and disputes had been so eroded as a result of the 
application of Article 68 of the Statute of the Court 
that an advisory opinion given by the Court could be 
regarded as equivalent to a judgement in a dispute. 

36. The Mexican delegation was therefore of the 
opinion that it was the principal judicial organ of the 
United Nations which should determine whether the 
Mandate was valid or invalid, thereby furnishing the 
General Assembly with solid grounds on which to base 
its decision to terminate the Mandate. That was clearly 
an indirect and more time-consuming method but, for 
the reasons he had already outlined, he regarded it as 
e.ntirely justified. He did not doubt that certain delega
tions would argue that the direct approach of termi
nating the Mandate by virtue of the powers conferred 
upon the General Assembly in Article 10 of the Charter 
would be much easier. Since, however, the General 
Assembly was dealing with what had originally been a 
legal act, his delegation thought that the method it was 
proposing was the only advisable one. That method 
alone would put an end once and for all to the legal 
controversy. For the General Assembly to act other
wise might prove prejudicial in the long run and a 
serious obstacle to immediate developments. One of the 
r;easons why the Special Committee for South West 
Africa had been only moderately successful lay pre
cisely in its desire to skip the normal stages. A 



304 Ge.neral Assembly - Seventeenth Session - Fourth Committee 

political termination of the Mandate which was not 
preceded by the necessary legal steps would be a waste 
of effort. 

37. If the International Court of Justice, in its advisory 
opinion, stated that the Mandate could not be termi
nated-which was most unlikely-the General Assembly 
could still resort to the methods already considered, 
consisting in ensuring that South Africa complied with 
its obligations as a Mandatory Power. If, on the other 
hand, the Court decided that the Mandate could be 
terminated-and his delegation regarded that as a 
certainty-a number of constructive possibilities would 
be open to the General Assembly, which would fully 
justify any limitations which the Assembly would have 
imposed upon itself in the interim. There would be 
no loss of time, since the General Assembly could ask 
the Court to give its advisory opinion before the 
eighteenth session of the General Assembly. Further
more, while the Court's opinion was awaited the Special 
Committee on the Situation with regard to the Imple
mentation of the Declaration on the Granting of Inde
pendence to Colonial Countries and Peoples, estab
lished under General Assembly resolution 1654 (XVI), 
could be instructed to study the ways and means of 
transferring power in the Territory in the course of 
the following year. 

38. The method he was advocating could be pursued 
jointly with the proceedings initiated by Liberia and 
Ethiopia, but for the moment he was not concerned 
with that possibility. In any case, the General Assem
bly would be acting with absolute certainty, since 
every one of its final steps leading to the termination 
of the Mandate would be reinforced by the opinion of 
the highest and most impartial judicial authority, so 
that no one would be able to criticize it for having 
acted precipitately in assuming direct responsibility 
for South West Africa. 

39. As could be seen from its report (A/5212 and 
Add.1-3), the Special Committee for South West Africa 
had reaffirmed the General Assembly's own previous 
pessimistic conclusions. The Chairman and the Vice
Chairman of the Special Committee for South West 
Africa had suggested in paragraph 43 of their own 
report (A/5212, part II) that theSouthAfricanGovern
ment might be given a short period of time within 
which to comply with the General Assembly resolu
tions. The Mexican delegation felt that that time could 
be used for laying a solid basis for subsequent action. 
In view of the history of the question arid of the latest 
statements by the South A,frican Minister for Foreign 
Affairs, there were, for the time being, no grounds for 
expecting any movement towards the acceptance of 
international jurisdiction over the Territory. The time 
immediately ahead should therefore be used to seek an 
advisory opinion which would enable the General 
Assembly to proceed with full legal authority to put an 
end to the South African administration of SouthWest 
Africa, to terminate the Mandate and to take over, 
directly or indirectly, responsibility for the future of 
the indigenous people. 

40. Although some critics might argue that when the 
United Nations reached that stage it would still be 
faced with the present difficulties, since the South 
African Government would still be firmly in control of 
the Territory, the Mexican delegation felt that the 
situation would be totally different. At present it was 
still possible to argue whether or not the violations 
committed by the South African Government provided 
grounds for the termination of the Mandate. At that 

stage, on the other hand, it would be possible to state 
that the termination of the Mandate was the only 
possible consequence of seventeen years of refusal by 
the South African Government to implement General 
Assembly resolutions. In his separate opinion appended 
to the Court's advisory opinion of 7 June 1955 Judge 
Lauterpacht had warned South Africa of the possible 
consequences of persistent refusal to implement 
General Assembly resolutions and had said that by so 
doing it might find that it had overstepped the imper
ceptible line between impropriety and illegality and had 
exposed itself to consequences legitimately following 
as a legal sanction. He felt, however, that in order to 
apply the serious sanction of terminating the Mandate, 
the General Assembly, in order to eliminate all possi
ble doubt, should seek endorsement of its action in a 
further advisory opinion of the International Court of 
Justice so that it should not be accused of abuse of 
power. 

41. His delegation would be in favour of any draft 
resolution which was based on the legal principles he 
had outlined. If the majority in the Committee decided 
on a political solution, his delegation would not oppose 
it but would feel concerned lest the unhappy experience 
with resolution 1702 (XVI) should be repeated and lest 
the Committee should again follow the sterile road of 
solving serious and complex problems by means of 
high-sounding resolutions. 

42. Mr. KOSCZIUSKO-MORIZET (France) proposed 
that the text of the Mexican representative's statement 
should be reproduced verbatim in the summary record. 

43. Mr. BAYONA (Colombia) and Miss IMRU (Ethio
pia) supported the French representative's proposal. 

44. Mr. PROTITCH (Under-Secretary for Trustee
ship and Information from Non -Self -Governing Terri
tories) said that for purely technical reasons he 
wondered whether the French representative would 
consider amending his suggestion and asking that the 
statement should be circulated as a Committee docu
ment. Otherwise the publication of the summary record 
would be delayed and there would be the additional 
difficulty that the record would be partly verbatim and 
partly in summary form. 

45. Mr. KOSCZIUSKO-MORIZET (France) agreed. 

46. Miss BROOKS (Liberia) felt that the statement 
should also be reflected fully in the summary record. 

47. Mr. PROTITCH (Under-secretary for Trustee
ship and Information from Non-Self-Governing Terri
tories) said that that would be done, and that the full 
text of the statement would be circulated as a Com
mittee document as soon as possible. 

The French representative's proposal, as amended, 
was adopted.Y 

48. Mr. ACHKAR (Guinea) asked whether the full 
text of the statement by the Mexican representative 
could be included in the printed records of the Com
mittee's proceedings. 

49. Mr. PROTITCH (Under-Secretary for Trustee
ship and Information from Non-Self-Governing Terri
tories) said that he would check the matter and would 
reply at a,subsequent meeting. 

50. Mr. NICOLAESCU (Romania) said that the dele
gations which had at heart the authority and effective-

1J The full text of the statement made by the representative of Mexico 
was subsequently circulated as document AfC.4/573. 



1376th meeting - 8 November 1962 305 

ness of the United Nations as an instrument of peace 
and international co-operation and a promoter of the 
high principles enshrined in the Charter were con
cerned over the failure the United Nations had en
countered during the past sixteen years in its efforts 
to solve the question of South West Africa. It was no 
longer merely a question of the settlement of the legal 
status of the Territory; it involved the fate of a colonial 
people struggling for self-determination and of a Ter
ritory where the criminal policy of apartheid, 
denounced by the whole of mankind, was being prac
tised, thus creating a threat to peace and security in 
Africa and perhaps throughout the world. The South 
African Government bore grave responsibility for hav
ing annexed a Territory with an international status 
and for h~ving practised a racialist and inhuman policy. 

51. The question of SouthWest Africa was by its very 
nature a political question. After its attempts to legal
ize the annexation of South West Africa had been re
jected by the League of Nations in 1934 and by the 
United Nations in 1946, the Pretoria Government had 
"le!?aliz.ed" that act in 1949 by turning South West 
AfriCa m~o South Africa's fifth province. In that way 
s?~t~ :Urrea had disregarded its international respon
Slblhtles and had found a pretext for preventingworld 
opinion from having any knowledge of the inhuman 
practices of apartheid in the Territory. The essential 
features of apartheid were well known and its practice 
was incompatible with membership of the United 
Nations. There was no doubt that the annexation of 
South West Africa and the enforcement of a political 
and administrative system based on apartheid and on 
domination by a white minority were illegal, immoral 
and contrary to the basic duties of South Africa as a 
Member of the United Nations. Such a policy should be 
resolutely condemned by the Organization. 

52. It was the paradox of colonialism thattheAfrican 
peoples, living in countries of immense natural wealth, 
were condemned to poverty and backwardness. The 
situation in South West Africa proved once again that 
colonialism's moving force was not its alleged civiliz
ing mission but the economic interests of the colonial 
Powers. The policy of apartheid was best suited for 
providing cheap and abundant manpower for the mining 
of diamonds and other precious metals. The immense 
natural wealth of the Territory was exploited exclu
sively by South African and other foreign companies. 
At the sixteenth session of the General Assembly 
petitioners had submitted a memorandum (A/C.4/512) 
dealing with the operation of those foreign companies. 
He did not think that the submission of that evidence 
would lay the petitioners open to the accusation of 
having introduced the cold war into the Committee's 
discussions. It could not be denied that companies of 
the United Kingdom, the United States and the Federal 
Republic of "Germany operating in South West Africa 
were directly interested in the application of apartheid 
in that Territory. 

53. According to Mr. John Gunther's book Inside 
Africa,.il South Africa was ruled by two forces: 
Afrikaaner nationalism as represented by the National
ist Party, and the Chamber of Mines, i.e., the financial 
interests mostly concentrated in the city of London. 
Since the latter force ruled not only South Africa itself 
but also South West Africa, the Rhodesias and the 
whole of Africa south of the Zambezi, it could not 
remain indifferent to the possibility of its domain 
being breached by the liberation movement. Hemmed 

!!/ New York, Harper, 1955. 

in on all sides by Territories controlled by that second 
force, the inhabitants of the region in question had 
nowhere to escape. 

54. The second force to which he had referred also 
had an important place in the councils of the political 
and military alliances. ThatwaswhytheNorthAtlantic 
Treaty Organization (NATO) could not be indifferent 
to the possibility that, after South West Africa's 
liberation, it might not have the same access to South 
West Africa's important deposits of rare strategic 
elements such as lithium and germanium. That 
explained why, as the petitioners had stressed, NATO 
furnished direct assistance to South Africa, which was 
spending large sums on the purchase of armaments 
military aircraft and missiles with a view to intimi~ 
dating the people and, if necessary, fighting the United 
Nations in order to preserve the so-called integrity 
of the Republic of which South West Africa was 
regardecl as a part. 

55. South Africa's boldness in constantly violating its 
international obligations could be explained by the sup
port it received from the States interested in the main
tenance of the status quo. During the past sixteen years 
South Africa's allies had obstructed the adoption of 
United Nations resolutions, however harmless, on the 
question of South West Africa. The South African 
Government naturally regarded such manoouvres as a 
support for its own position, and United Nations reso
lutions became a priori destined not to be implemented. 

56. The South African Government had consistently 
turned a deaf ear to the United Nations resolutions 
appeals and offers of co-operation. It had eve~ 
attempted to counteract United Nations action by its 
own proposals-which had fortunately been rejected
designed to sanction the enslavement of South West 
Africa, The Committee was aware of the proposal for 
the division of the Territory which had been made in 
the United Nations Good Offices Committee by the 
United Kingdom and United States representatives, and 
of the proposal by South Africa that three former 
Presidents of the General Assembly should be invited 
to visit the Territory with a view to refuting all the 
conclusions reached by the United Nations. The manner 
in which the South African Government had sought to 
turn the visit of two United Nations representatives to 
the Territory to its advantage was also well known. 
The South African Government had agreed to co
operate with the United Nations, but always on condition 
that its own position was accepted in advance. 

57. He hoped that the delegations which had hitherto 
deemed it possible to co-operate with such a Govern
ment would at last adopt a categorical attitude. 

58. Although the people of South West Africa were 
entitled to self-determination and independence, the 
South African Government wished to perpetuate the 
~nslavement of the Territory. It was worth mentioning, 
m that connexion, that the concessions granted to the 
Consolidated Diamond Mines were valid until the year 
2010. 

59. The experience of sixteen years of negotiations 
with the South African Government showed that the 
only way to speed up the attainment of independence 
by South West Africa lay in the adoption of firm 
measures, the application of which must not be left to 
the goodwill of that Government. The General Assembly 
should now go beyond the measures specified in resolu
tion 1702 (XVI). The report of the Special Committee 
for South West Africa (A/5212 and Add,1-3) and the 



306 General Assembly - Seventeenth Session - Fourth Committee 

report of the Special Committee established under 
General Assembly. resolution 1654 (XVI) (A/5238, 
chap. IX) included a number of recommendations which, 
together with the suggestions made by the representa
tives of the indigenous inhabitants, could form the 
basis for new decisions by the Committee. 

60. The Romanian delegation felt that the question.of 
South West Africa should be entrusted to the Special 
Committee established under General Assembly reso
lution 1654 (XVI), that the Mandate should be terminated 
and that that Committee, in co-operation with the 
representatives of the indigenous inhabitants, should 
take all the necessary steps for the transfer of power 
to the people in conformity with General As~embly 
resolutions 1514 (XV) and 1702 (XVI). While the 
termination of the Mandate was not an end in itself, 
he felt that to continue to recognize the Mandate when 
South Africa had virtually seized the Territory would 
be tantamount to adhering to an instrument which was 
being used as the legal basis for an illegal annexation. 

61. Resolutions on the question of South West Africa 
should be completed by firm action such as that adopted 
by the General Assembly at its 1165th plena~y meeting 
in connexion with the question of apartheid, on the 
basis of the report of the Special Political Committee 
(A/5276). 

62. The United Nations could help in the solution of 
the problem of-SouthWest Africa provided its Members 
were united and animated by the desire to support the 
aspirations of the African people and to safeguard peace 
and international security. The States which had close 
political and economic relations with South Africa 

Litho in U.N. 

should be firmly asked to abide by the will of the United 
Nations, and to make their own positive contribution to 
the solution of the problem. 

63. The Romanian delegation would do its utmost to 
contribute to the solution of the problemofSouth West 
Africa in the interests of the indigenous inhabitants 
and of world peace. 

Tribute to the memory of Mrs. Eleanor Roosevelt 

64. Miss BROOKS (Liberia) said that her delegation 
had learned with deep regret of the death of Mrs. 
Eleanor Roosevelt, who had made such an important 
contribution to the work of the United Nations in con
nexion with the Universal Declaration of Human Rights 
and the status of women and had taken such a deep 
interest in the matters with which the Committee was 
concerned. She personally would regard Mrs. Roose
velt's life and work as a beacon which would guide her 
in meeting the challenges of the time. 

65. She extended the Liberian delegation's condolen
ces to the United States delegation and, through it, to 
Mrs. Roosevelt's family and the Government and 
people of the United States. 

66. Mr. BINGHAM (United StatesofAmerica)thanked 
the Liberian representative for her statement. The 
American people felt the death of Mrs. Roosevelt very 
deeply. Mrs. Roosevelt had made a great contribution 
to the work of the United Nations in its early days and 
his delegation deeply appreciated the manner in which 
her work had received recognition in the Committee. 

The meeting rose at 1.5 p.m. 

77401-September 1963-2,475 


